
Notes

Common abbreviations used in the notes: CIA Central Intelligence Agency; CRO Commonwealth Relations 
Office; FCO Foreign and Commonwealth Office; FRUS Foreign Relations of the United States; MFA Ministry 
of Foreign Affairs; NAS National Archives of Singapore; OHC Oral History Centre; PMO Prime Minister’s 
Office; UPI United Press International.

I N T R O D U C T I O N

1. Speech at the opening of the National Youth Conference, 16 July 1982. 2. Speech inaugurating the NTUC 
political education course, 10 February 1982.

C HA P T E R  1 :  R I O T S

1.  Interview with Othman Wok, 13  June 2005. 2.  Ibid. 3.  At 10 a.m. the next day, on 22  July, the 
government announced that the curfew would be re-imposed at 11:30 a.m. in response to further disorder 
in the morning. 4. Interview with Tharumaratnam Chelliah, OHC, NAS. 5. Broadcast by Prime Minister 
Lee Kuan Yew, 21 July 1964, NAS. 6. Interview with S. Rajaratnam by Foong Choon Hon, Dialogues with 
S. Rajaratnam (Singapore: Shin Min Daily News, 1991). 7. New Straits Times, 25 October 1999. 8. The 
Muslim character of Kampong Glam owed much to the country’s colonial past – the area was officially allocated 
to Malay-Muslims and Arabs in Raffles’s town plan. 9. “Prime Minister Requested to Withdraw Quit Notice. 
3,000 Malay Residents Threatened”, Utusan Melayu, 28 May 1964. The Jawi script newspaper, founded in 
1939, was taken over by UMNO in 1961. 10. The series of dialogues culminated in a mammoth meeting 
on 19 July 1964 with Lee at Victoria Theatre. The discussion, chaired by Othman, involved about a thousand 
Malay leaders. Lee repeated the government’s promise: “It is the intention of this Government to do what is 
right and fair, and we will not be intimidated from doing our best in looking after the interests of the people 
of Singapore, including the Malays.” 11. Interview with Othman Wok, 13 June 2005. 12. Fanning the anger 
of Malays on 5 June, Radio Indonesia accused Singapore’s “Chinese government” of forcing Malays out of the 
city so that the Chinese could be in control. 13. Speech at a children’s party at the Kota Raja Community 
Centre to celebrate Hari Raya and Chinese New Year, 22 February 1964. 14. Interview with Mohamed Khir 
Johari, OHC, NAS. 15. Airgram from American Consulate (Singapore) to Department of State, 27 August 
1964. 16. Interview with Yap Chin Kwee, 4 September 2005. 17. Interview with Mohamed Khir Johari, 
2 September 2005. 18. Interview with Mohamed Khir Johari, OHC, NAS. 19. Some Federation leaders, 
such as Razak and Albar, traced the beginnings of the riots to insensitive PAP rhetoric, particularly Lee’s 
speech in Seremban on 30 June that referred to the unmentionable fact that non-Malays outnumbered the 
Malays in Malaysia. 20. Abdullah Ahmad, Tengku Abdul Rahman and Malaysia’s Foreign Policy, 1963–1970 
(Kuala Lumpur: Berita, 1985).  21. S. Durai Raja Singam, ed. Tribute to Tunku Abdul Rahman (On His 
60th Birthday), February 8th 1963 (Kuala Lumpur: Malayan Times, 1963). 22. On the same day, 24 July 
1964, Khir and his team were visiting Geylang Serai, a hotbed of UMNO activism, with Lee Kuan Yew in 
attendance. From archival photos of the visit, it was apparent that Khir was very much in charge, with Lee 
largely sidelined by the Malaysian party. 23. Interview with Toh Chin Chye, in Melanie Chew, Leaders of 
Singapore (Singapore: Resource Press, 1996). 24. Interview with Lee Khoon Choy, 20 June 2005. 25. Words 
and images have consequences. The Maria Hertogh riots in 1950, fuelled by sensational newspaper reports 
whipping up religious passions, had taught him that. See Irene Ng, The Singapore Lion: A Biography of 
S. Rajaratnam (Singapore: Institute of Southeast Asian Studies, 2010), pp. 121–24. 26. Interview with Lee 
Khoon Choy, 20 June 2005. 27. At the time, the position was called Secretary to the PM. It is the equivalent 

Masiah
Text Box
Reproduced from S. Rajaratnam, The Authorised Biography, Volume Two: The Lion's Roar, by Irene Ng (Singapore: ISEAS – Yusof Ishak Institute, 2024). This version was obtained electronically direct from the publisher on condition that copyright is not infringed. No part of this publication may be reproduced without the prior permission of ISEAS Publishing. Individual chapters are available at <http://bookshop.iseas.edu.sg>.

https://bookshop.iseas.edu.sg/


724 THE LION’S ROAR

of today’s Principal Private Secretary. 28. Interview with Herman Hochstadt, 13 May 2012. 29. Interview 
with S. Rajaratnam by Foong Choon Hon, Dialogues with S. Rajaratnam.

C HA P T E R  2 :  C H O I C E S

1. Interview with Goh Keng Swee, OHC, NAS. 2. Ibid. 3. Goh Keng Swee’s notes of meetings with Tun 
Razak and others in KL on 28 and 29 July 1964, Albatross I, PMO Collection, NAS. 4. The British deputy high 
commissioner of Singapore confirmed this account in his report of his meeting with Lee, Toh and Rajaratnam 
on the afternoon of 28 July 1964. Telegram to CRO, 28 July 1964. 5. Interview with Goh Keng Swee, OHC, 
NAS. 6. Ibid. 7. The PAP’s last-minute decision was also motivated by the special circumstances in which 
the elections were held. The Indonesian Confrontation was continuing and almost all opposition parties in 
Malaysia had banded together under the leadership of the pro-communist Socialist Front (closely allied with 
Barisan Sosialis in Singapore) to oppose Malaysia. The PAP’s fear was that a large vote for the anti-Malaysia 
parties in the opposition would be presented by the anti-Malaysia forces as a protest against Malaysia. They 
feared that it would give encouragement to Indonesia and the other anti-Malaysia forces to intensify their 
attacks on Malaysia. Raja wrote in the party’s election manifesto: “The PAP’s immediate objective in this 
elections is to secure the defeat of all the Socialist Front stooges it is confronted with.” The long-term objective 
was “to assist in the evolution of a democratic, united and prosperous Malaysia based on the principles of 
social justice and non-communalism”. 8.  Lee said he knew that the CEC was aware of his reservations 
before he left. “But the Tunku had allowed peninsular UMNO and MCA, MIC Alliance leaders to intervene 
in the Singapore general elections in September 1963. So the CEC considered all bets off,” Lee said. “Although 
I was not personally enamoured of the proposal, I abided by the decision.” Despite drawing mammoth 
crowds to its rallies, the PAP won only one seat, in Bungsar. The Alliance increased its share of the vote to 
57 per cent and its parliamentary strength to 89 out of 104 Malayan seats. 9. Interview with S. Rajaratnam, 
OHC, NAS. 10. Interview with Lee Kuan Yew, 8 July 2005. 11. CIA, “Special Report – Malaysia’s Internal 
Problems”, 27  March 1964, https://www.cia.gov/readingroom/docs/CIA-RDP79-00927A004400050003-8.
pdf. 12. Ibid. 13. Interview with Goh Keng Swee, OHC, NAS. 14. The PAP made clear from the start 
that it was not opposing UMNO, nor the Tunku, nor any part of the Malay leadership of the Alliance. Raja 
announced that two of its nominees for Johore constituencies would not contest because, contrary to PAP 
expectations, their Alliance opponents were UMNO and not MCA members. Lee himself made clear in 
various election rallies that the UMNO leadership – the Tunku, Tun Razak and Datik Ismail – must be 
supported. 15. Interview with Abdullah Ahmad, 7 August 2008. 16. Ibid. 17. Interview with Yap Chin 
Kwee, 4 September 2005. 18. W. Bentley, British High Commission, KL, to A. J. Brown, CRO, London, 1 July 
1965. Bentley enclosed a copy of Philip Moore’s conversation with Ghazali on 4 June when the latter was in 
Singapore to speak to the University Socialist Club. 19. In his oral history, Devan Nair related that when he 
met the Tunku in his house in Penang in 1979, the Tunku was still fuming about how Lee broke faith with him 
by contesting the 1964 election. Devan, who was in Lee’s “truth mission” entourage, told the Tunku that he 
was wrong about Lee; the decision was taken by Toh and Raja while they were away. “The Tunku still found it 
difficult to believe that when I told him. But that was the truth.” Interview with Devan Nair, 9 January 1981, 
OHC, NAS. 20. Telegram from Pritchett to Canberra, 15 May 1964. 21. Transcript of interview by Raj 
Vasil, 1968, NAS. 22. Interview with Lee Kuan Yew, 8 July 2005. 23. Interview with Lee Kuan Yew, 4 May 
2009. 24. Weekend Today, 15–16 May 2010. 25.  Interview with Rajaratnam, Melanie Chew, Leaders of 
Singapore. 26. Interview with Lee Kuan Yew, 4 May 2009. 27. Interview with Yong Nyuk Lin, 31 August 
2005. 28. Speech during visit to Jalan Besar constituency, 29 July 1964. 29. Minutes of the second monthly 
ministerial staff meeting, 7 August 1964, GPD 37/50, Ministry of Culture Collection, NAS. 30. Toh was 
then acting prime minister. According to Lee, Toh was nervous in handling the situation in his absence, 
imposing a curfew without a grace notice and “increasing alarm and causing chaos as everyone had to rush 
home”. Goh left Singapore on 6 September to join the Malaysian delegation to the UN. 31. Telegram from 
the American Consulate (Singapore) to Department of State, 21 September 1964. 32. Speech by Dato Syed 
Ja'afar Albar at the Malay convention at the New Star Theare, Pasir Panjang, 12 July 1964. 33. Memorandum 
submitted by the Government of Singapore to the Commission of Inquiry into the Disturbances in Singapore 



NOTES 725

in 1964 (issued March 1965). 34. Lee Kuan Yew, The Singapore Story: Memoirs of Lee Kuan Yew (Singapore: 
Times Editions, Singapore Press Holdings, 1998). 35. S. Rajaratnam, “Solution to the Communal Problem”, 
Petir, March 1965. 36. Ibid. 37. Memorandum from W.B Pritchett to Secretary, Department of External 
Affairs, 2 October 1964. 38. The Straits Times, 12 December 1964. 39. Interview with Lim Kim San, OHC, 
NAS. 40. Interview with Chen Man Hin, 2 October 2004. 41. Ibid. 42. Interview with Subramaniam 
Munian, OHC, NAS. 43.  Interview with V.K. Pillay, 1  June 2005. 44.  Interview with Vijayalakshimi 
Thambiah, 2 October 2004. 45. Interview with Vijayaratnam Seevaratnam, 4 September 2005. 46. Interview 
with Low Yong Nguan, 20 May 2014. Low was a PAP MP (Crawford) for one term from 1968 to 1972, after which 
he returned to Kampong Glam to help Raja in his branch and grassroots. In 1986, Low joined the opposition.

C HA P T E R  3 :  P O L I T I C S  A N D  P I R O S K A

1. Singapore Legislative Assembly debate, 13 November 1964. 2. Sound recording of Mrs S. Rajaratnam’s speech at 
the opening of the international festival, organised by the YWCA, 13 November 1964, NAS. 3. Ibid. 4. Interview 
with S. Rajaratnam by Foong Choon Hon, Dialogues with S. Rajaratnam. 5. Interview with Nina Cohen, 
30 March 2008. 6. Interview with Nalini Nair, 28 September 2006. 7. Interview with Dennis Bloodworth, 
12  February 2005. 8.  Raja’s view was that Singapore’s participation in the UN as part of the Malaysian 
delegation offered “concrete proof that Singapore was a truly independent country, which had the right of 
participating in foreign affairs”. This, he noted, was in contrast to the British colonial days when Singapore 
had no say in foreign affairs. The Straits Times, 18 October 1963. In the self-governing years from 1959 to 
1963, Singapore enjoyed autonomy in all areas of governance except for foreign affairs and defence, which 
remained under British control. 9. As Ong confessed to his delegation at the time, Malaysia’s principal contact 
with Africa and Latin America was with their UN delegations in New York. The Straits Times, 22 November 
1963. 10. The committee dealt with colonial and trusteeship matters. 11. South West Africa later became 
independent as Namibia. The issue had particular significance for the Third World. The ideology that white 
people were superior in civilisation to “coloured” people had served to justify European imperialism and 
colonial subjugation. Apartheid dramatised the still-evolving history of racial insult and injury to the black 
peoples of Africa and, by extension, to all other non-white people under colonial rule. South West Africa 
had been on the UN agenda for 17 years by the time Raja spoke on it in 1963. It would take another 27 
years and a debilitating guerrilla war before South West Africa won its independence in 1990 and became 
Namibia. As for the South African apartheid policy, which Raja would continue to decry over the years, it 
would come to a definitive end only in 1994 – six years after he retired from politics. 12. In his first speech, 
on 31 October, Raja called for the complete isolation of South Africa, with major powers withdrawing their 
support from the regime. Only then would South Africa listen to reason, he argued, and only then would the 
white South Africans come to terms with the “coloured majority of Africa” and abandon the “absurd myth 
of white supremacy”. Raja noted that “the racial jingoism and the reckless arrogance that South Africa has 
boldly flaunted in the face of a hostile world opinion are sustained by the expectation of help and sustenance, 
direct or indirect, from influential friends”. His second speech, on 21 November, was equally trenchant, but 
this time targeted at the UN itself. He worded it to shame the world community and call it out for cowardice. 
While decrying Portugal’s continued occupation of South West Africa, he said the important question was 
whether the UN, with its prestige and effectiveness at stake, was determined to end the regime, “which 
was merely a continuation of slavery”. He argued that Portuguese colonialism and South African racialist 
imperialism were closely linked. His delegation therefore hoped that, at the current session, the discussion 
on the issue would no longer be “mere ritual, but would lead to effective action”. 13. The American news 
agency UPI, then one of the largest newswire services in the world, picked up his speech. “ ‘Isolate the Whites 
in S. Africa’ Call to UN by Rajaratnam”, The Straits Times, 2 November 1963. 14. S. Rajaratnam’s talk at 
the Political Study Centre, “Malaysia and the Changing Pattern of World Politics (2)”, 27 January 1964, NAS. 
Key excerpts from the talk were aired on the radio in a series of four 15-minute broadcasts over four parts in 
February. The talks were also translated into Malay, Chinese and Tamil for broadcast. 15. The Straits Times, 
30 November 1963. 16. Speech at the opening of the Thirukkural conference, organised by the Malaysian 
Dravidian Progressive Federation, 8 November 1964, NAS.



726 THE LION’S ROAR

C HA P T E R  4 :  FA C E  O F F

1. Lee Kuan Yew’s eulogy for the late S. Rajaratnam during the state funeral at the Esplanade Concert Hall, 
25 February 2006, NAS. 2. Ibid. 3. Ibid. 4. Interview with Lee Kuan Yew, 4 May 2009. 5. Interview with 
S. Rajaratnam, OHC, NAS. 6. The PAP’s statement of objectives and policy issued by Raja to mark its 10th 
anniversary set out the PAP’s aim to convince the moderate leadership of the Malays that there was a “rational 
economic” method – as opposed to an “irrational political” one – to abolishing rural poverty. The party’s role 
towards this aim was “not to take an aggressive lead”, but to “provide a catalyst, through ideas and example for the 
emergence of leaders in other parts of Malaysia who were sympathetic to the democratic socialist cause”. 7. See 
Hong Lysa and Huang Jianli, The Scripting of a National History: Singapore and Its Pasts (Singapore: NUS Press, 
2008). 8. Under British rule, Singapore was part of Malaya and associated with the states in the north, as the 
British administrations were linked. Singapore was essentially an entrepot economy, making money not by 
producing goods but by being a trade conduit for goods. Malaya and Singapore were politically separated in 
1957 when the former achieved independence from the British. Singapore attained internal self-government in 
1959. The Tunku had feared that by including Singapore – with its Chinese majority – the Malays would lose 
their political dominance. It was only in 1961, when the communist threat became acute in Singapore, that 
the Tunku, with bitter memories of the Emergency against the Malayan Communist Party from 1948 to 1960, 
contemplated merger with Singapore on the condition that the two Borneo territories, with their non-Chinese 
populations, would also join in to form Malaysia. The Tunku harboured dark fears that Communist China 
would extend its influence to the immigrant Chinese living in Malaya, and that the Malays, if outnumbered 
by the Chinese, would be dominated both politically and economically by the latter. Such fears were also 
widespread among Malays on the peninsula. 9. “Address by the Director of Political Bureau, S. Rajaratnam, 
at the 10th Anniversary Celebration of the People’s Action Party”, Petir, December 1964. 10. Rajaratnam’s 
New Year message, 1 January 1965. 11. The Alliance won 89 out of the 104 seats contested; together with 
the 37 from the allied parties in Sabah and Sarawak, the Alliance had a commanding 126 seats. 12. Under 
the Malaysia Agreement signed in July 1963, Singapore would contribute 40 per cent of its revenue to the 
federal government, and a common market would be set up over 12 years. Singapore would also provide a 
$150 million development loan to Sabah and Sarawak, two-thirds of which would be interest-free for five 
years. 13. Report by Australian High Commission in KL, 4 January 1965. 14. Malaysian Parliamentary 
Debates, Dewan Ra’ayat (House of Representatives): Official Report, 3 December 1964. 15. W.B. Pritchett 
to Secretary, Department of External Affairs, 16 December 1964. 16. The Singapore Alliance, which was the 
Singapore offshoot of the Federation Alliance, fielded sufficient candidates to form a government – 42 for the 
51 seats. 17. Speech at the Alpha Society and Temasek Society dinner talk, Le Meridien hotel, Orchard Road, 
13 January 1990, Rajaratnam Private Papers Collection, ISEAS – Yusof Ishak Institute. 18. The Straits Times, 
4 March 1964 19. Election manifesto of the People’s Action Party, 1964. 20. The Straits Times, 28 March 
1964. 21. Interview with Goh Keng Swee, OHC, NAS. 22. The Straits Times, 12 December 1964. 23. The 
Singapore branch of the Bank of China handled the financial arrangements for trade between Singapore and 
China as well as remittances. 24. This approach was a precursor to “soft power”, a term coined only in the late 
1980s to refer to the ability to secure influence by persuasion or attraction as opposed to hard power. Soft power 
arises from the attractiveness of a country’s culture, political ideals and policies. Hard power, the ability to coerce, 
grows out of a country’s military or economic might. 25. The Straits Times, 21 December 1964. 26. Tan 
said that while the central government did give an assurance to Singapore that the Bank of China would not 
be closed immediately on the formation of Malaysia, “there was no undertaking of any kind that this period 
would be lengthened indefinitely”. 27. The Straits Times, 31 December 1964. 28. Ibid. 29. Statement by 
the Minister for Culture in reply to Mr Tan Siew Sin, Malaysian Minister for Finance, 31 December 1964, 
Rajaratnam Private Papers Collection, ISEAS – Yusof Ishak Institute. 30. Letter from Rajaratnam to Senu, 
4 January 1965, Ministry of Culture, PMO 077/63, PMO Collection, NAS. 31. Malaysian Parliamentary 
Debates, Dewan Ra’ayat: Official Report, 11 December 1964. 32. Speech on the budget estimates for the 
Ministry of Information and Broadcasting, 18 December 1964, Malaysian Parliamentary Debates, Dewan 
Ra’ayat: Official Report. 33. Interview with Lim Chong Eu, 6 July 2005. 34. Lee, The Singapore Story: Memoirs 
of Lee Kuan Yew. 35. The Straits Times, 10 December 1964. 36. “Memorandum from the Prime Minister” 
on “Possible constitutional re-arrangements”, Albatross I, PMO Collection, NAS. 37. Ibid.



NOTES 727

C HA P T E R  5 :  T H E  M E M O

1. Lee Kuan Yew said in his memoirs that his memorandum, prepared as the basis for his talks with the 
Tunku, was completed by 25  January 1965. Lee Kuan Yew, The Singapore Story: Memoirs of Lee Kuan 
Yew. 2. “Memorandum from the Prime Minister” on “Possible constitutional re-arrangements”, Albatross 
I, PMO Collection, NAS. 3.  Memorandum titled “Comments from the Minister for Culture on P.M.’s 
memorandum”, Albatross I, PMO Collection, NAS. 4. Lee referred to Raja’s memo when he met Moore on 
27 January 1965. 5. Memorandum titled “Comments from the Minister for Culture on P.M.’s memorandum”, 
Albatross I, PMO Collection, NAS. 6. Notes of conversation between Lee Kuan Yew and Philip Moore, 
27  January 1965. 7.  Ibid. 8.  For a good summary of the concerns of the Australian position, see the 
Department of External Affairs ministerial brief, “Relations between the Federal and Singapore Governments”, 
Canberra, 9 March 1965. 9. Notes of conversation between Lee Kuan Yew and Philip Moore, 27 January 
1965. 10. The Straits Times, 29 January 1965. 11. Berita Harian, 30 January 1965. 12. Notes of meeting with 
the Tunku and Dr Ismail on 31 January 1965 at the Residency, KL. Note written by Lee Kuan Yew on 6 February 
1965, Albatross I, PMO Collection, NAS. 13. The Straits Times, 15 February 1965. 14. Ibid. 15. Ibid. For 
an excellent summary of events in this period, see Albert Lau’s A Moment of Anguish: Singapore in Malaysia and 
the Politics of Disengagement (Singapore: Times Academic Press, 1998). 16. The Straits Times, 17 February 
1965 17. The Straits Times, 18 February 1965. 18. Speech by Raja at PAP Bungsar branch in KL, 17 February 
1965. 19. Interview with Lee Khoon Choy, OHC, NAS. 20. Raja was involved in the Malaysia Solidarity 
Consultative Committee, which gathered representatives from Malaya, Sabah, Sarawak and Singapore from 
August 1961 to February 1962 to formulate the terms for creating the new nation of Malaysia. 21. The 
Straits Times, 18 February 1965. 22. The Straits Times, 3 March 1965. 23. Transcript of documentary, “The 
9th of August”, broadcast on 18 June 2002. Rajaratnam’s private papers with author. 24. The Straits Times, 
21 February 1965. Full speech reproduced in April 1965 issue of Petir. 25. Petir, April 1965. 26. The Straits 
Times, 19 February 1965. 27. Interview with Khir Johari, 2 September 2005.

C HA P T E R  6 :  T O WA R D S  A  M A L AY S IA N  M A L AY S IA

1. Lee, The Singapore Story: Memoirs of Lee Kuan Yew. 2. Notes by Rajaratnam of Meeting between PAP 
representatives and those from Sabah, Sarawak and Malaya held at Sri Temasek on 12 February 1965, Malaysia 
Solidarity National Convention, PM 002/65, PMO Collection, NAS. 3. The UPKO’s Donald Stephens was 
at the time in a power struggle with his UMNO-supported rival, Mustapha Harun, from the United Sabah 
National Organisation (USNO), who was appointed Sabah’s head of state. Since the formation of Malaysia in 
1963, the KL-directed Alliance strengthened Mustapha at the expense of Stephens, and sought to impose its 
communal-based system in Sabah. By 1967, Stephens lost his Cabinet seat. UPKO was dissolved in December 
that year. 4. Notes by Rajaratnam of meeting between PAP representatives and those from Sabah, Sarawak 
and Malaya held at Sri Temasek on 12 February 1965, Malaysia Solidarity National Convention, PM 002/65, 
PMO Collection, NAS. 5. Confidential letter from Lim Chong Eu to Zainal Abidin Haji Abas, KL, dated 
18 February 1965, Malaysia Solidarity National Convention, PM 002/65, PMO Collection, NAS. 6. The 
Straits Times, 19  February 1965. 7.  Letter from Ong Kee Hui to Rajaratnam dated 22  February 1965, 
Malaysia Solidarity National Convention, PM 002/65, PMO Collection, NAS. 8. Interview with Lee Khoon 
Choy, 20 June 2005. 9. Chew, Leaders of Singapore. 10. J. Norman Parmer, “Malaysia 1965: Challenging 
the Terms of 1957”, Asian Survey 6, no. 2 (February 1966). 11. Notes of conversation between Lee Kuan 
Yew and P.B.C. Moore, deputy high commissioner, Singapore, 1 March 1965. 12. Speech by Lee Kuan Yew 
at Malacca, 3 March 1965, NAS. 13. Notes of conversation between Lee Kuan Yew and Moore, Singapore, 
19 June 1965. 14. During that period, Lee and Goh were holding talks with the Tunku, Razak and Ismail on 
the proposed rearrangements. On 23 and 24 February 1965, Lee had discussions with Lord Head, the British 
high commissioner in Kuala Lumpur. The premier thereafter circulated notes of the meetings to the Cabinet 
with his own assessment, which included this line. Albatross I, PMO Collection, NAS. 15. Cablegram from 
T.K. Critchley, Australian high commissioner in KL, to Paul Hasluck, the Australian minister for external affairs, 
3 March 1965. 16. Ibid. 17. Cablegram from Antony Head, British high commissioner in KL, to CRO, 
4 March 1965. 18. The British were particularly worried about internal security being transferred to Singapore, 



728 THE LION’S ROAR
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government. This proved to be an area of persistent controversy during merger, with KL threatening more 
than once to take over television and broadcasting in Singapore. 8. Malaysia Parliamentary Debates, Dewan 
Ra’ayat: Official Report, 31 May 1965. 9. The political cracks along racial lines would reveal themselves at the 
height of the Sino-Malay riots in KL in May 1969, triggered by the results of the general elections that handed 
gains to the Chinese-based opposition parties and saw the Alliance suffer its worst defeat since independence. 
See, for example, K.J. Ratnam and R.S. Milne, “The 1969 Parliamentary Election in West Malaysia”, Pacific 
Affairs 43, no. 2 (1970). 10. Sound recording of Culture Minister S. Rajaratnam’s speech on “Concept and 
Implementation of a Malaysian Malaysia” at a forum organised by the Democratic Socialist Club, University 
of Singapore, 7 June 1965, NAS. 11. Tunku Abdul Rahman, Looking Back: Monday Musings and Memories 
(Kuala Lumpur: Pustaka Antara, 1977). 12. Time, 12 April 1963. 13. G.A. Jockel, “Notes on Visit to Kuala 
Lumpur and Singapore”, Department of External Affairs paper, Canberra, 28  May 1965. Documents on 
Australian Foreign Policy, Volume 25: Australia and the Formation of Malaysia, 1961–1966. 14. Interview 
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with Abdullah Ahmad, 7 August 2008. 15. Interview with Khir Johari, 2 September 2005. 16. Interview 
with Tan Chee Khoon, OHC, NAS. 17. Interview with Yap Chin Kwee, 4 September 2005. 18. Telegram 
from Head to CRO, 4 June 1965. 19. Speech by Dr Toh Chin Chye, deputy prime minister and chairman of 
the Malaysia Solidarity Convention, National Theatre, 6 June 1965, NAS. 20. Draft resolution of the MSC, 
stamped for filing on 7 June 1965, Malaysia Solidarity National Convention, PM 002/65, PMO Collection, 
NAS. 21. The Straits Times, 12 June 1965. 22. Speech by S. Rajaratnam at the fifth anniversary celebration 
of Kampong Glam Community Centre, 12 June 1965. 23. Record of conversation between Lee Kuan Yew 
and Pritchett, Singapore, 21 July 1965. 24. Cablegram from Critchley to Canberra, Kuala Lumpur, 10 June 
1965. 25. Submission from Jockel to Hasluck, Canberra, 11 June 1965. 26. Harold Wilson, The Labour 
Government, 1964–1970: A Personal Record (London, 1971). 27. S Rajaratnam, “Who Really Lost in Hong 
Lim”, Petir, September 1965. The article was written before Separation, in late July, but was published only in 
the September issue of Petir. 28. The Straits Times, 8 July 1965. 29. The Straits Times, 9 July 1965. 30. See 
Utusan Melayu, 24 May 1965. It reported an UMNO meeting in which Albar roused the crowd to a point 
where, amidst cries of “crush Lee”, several voices shouted “Arrest Lee and preserve him like entrails in pickle.” 
According to the report, Albar then smiled and urged them to “shout louder!” so that everyone could hear the 
people’s anger. 31. Tunku Abdul Rahman, “Looking Back”, The Star, 7 April 1975. 32. Transcript of press 
conference held in DPM Toh Chin Chye’s office, 8 July 1965. Alex Josey private papers, ISEAS. 33. The Straits 
Times, 10 July 1965. 34. The Straits Times, 14 July 1965. 35. Record of conversation between Lee Kuan Yew 
and Pritchett, Singapore, 21 July 1965. 36. Stephen Dorril, MI6: Inside the Covert World of Her Majesty’s 
Secret Intelligence Service (New York: Simon and Schuster, 2002). 37. Lee and Raja spurned the overtures by 
Marshall, who went on to form the Singapore Socialist Party in 1954. Irene Ng, The Singapore Lion: A Biography 
of S. Rajaratnam (Singapore: Institute of Southeast Asian Studies, 2010). 38. Legislative Assembly debate, 
30 January 1962. 39. Interview with Alex Josey, OHC, NAS. 40. The Straits Budget, 21 July 1965. The PAP, 
which had previously lost the seat twice in a row, won with 60 per cent of the vote in 1965. 41. Interview 
with Lee Khoon Choy, OHC, NAS. 42. Interview with Eddie Barker, OHC, NAS. 43. Goh was reportedly 
being treated for gall bladder trouble in a sanatorium at Bad Kissingen in North Germany. 44. Interview with 
Goh Keng Swee, OHC, NAS. 45. Tunku Abdul Rahman, Challenging Times (Pelanduk, 1986). 46. Interview 
with Tunku Abdul Rahman in the documentary The 9th of August, broadcast on 18 June 2002. Transcript 
of the documentary from author’s collection of Rajaratnam’s private papers. 47. Ibid. 48. Interview with 
Lee Kuan Yew, 8 July 2005.

C HA P T E R  8 :  S HAT T E R E D  D R E A M S

1. Based on Raja’s oral history and this author’s interviews with Lee Kuan Yew. It should be noted that Othman 
Wok’s recollection of driving Raja to KL on the fateful day of 7 August 1975 has been cited in the media many 
times – so many that it has been taken as fact. He had repeated the story to this author as well. Inconveniently, 
however, it contradicts the accounts of some other PAP leaders that Raja took a flight to KL that morning, as 
instructed by Lee. They included Goh Keng Swee and Eddie Barker (see their oral histories) – that said, they 
were, however, not present when Raja arrived at Temasek House. Toh Chin Chye, however, was, and he said 
that Raja travelled to KL by plane that fateful morning (see, for example, his interview with Melanie Chew, 
and in the documentary The 9th of August, broadcast on 18 June 2002). Lee himself had thought that Raja had 
flown up as instructed, until alerted to Othman’s account decades later while writing his memoirs. Arguably, 
the definitive word should go to Raja himself – in his oral history in 1982, he recalled taking a plane to KL. It 
is possible that Othman might have confused events, as he had driven Raja to KL on other occasions as well. 
One telling discrepancy in Othman’s account was when he said, in one interview, that they arrived in Temasek 
House at about 5 p.m., which is not possible given the sequence of events that day. Furthermore, a Straits 
Times report in the immediate aftermath confirmed Raja’s arrival past 8 a.m. that day, and it did not mention 
Othman arriving with him in the same car. In the absence of another source to confirm Othman’s account of 
Raja’s mode of travel, I am hewing to the dictum, “if in doubt, leave out”, for the narrative. In the grand scheme 
of things, it is not a crucial point. 2. Interview with Lee Kuan Yew, 8 July 2005. 3. Ibid. 4. Interview with 
S. Rajaratnam by Foong Choon Hon, Dialogues with S Rajaratnam. 5. Singapore 25 Years: a Straits Times 
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Special, 9 August 1990 (Singapore: Straits Times Press, 1990). 6. Lee. The Singapore Story: Memoirs of Lee 
Kuan Yew. 7. Cablegram from Critchley to Canberra, Kuala Lumpur, 16 August 1965, NAS. 8. Tarzie 
Vittachi, Emergency, 1958 – The Story of Ceylon Race Riots (London: Andre Deutsch, 1958). 9.  Speech 
to Singapore Legislative Assembly, 13 December 1960. 10. Cablegram from Critchley to Hasluck, Kuala 
Lumpur, 9 August 1965, NAS. 11. Interview with Yap Chin Kwee, 4 September 2005. 12. Interview with 
S. Rajaratnam by Foong Choon Hon, Dialogues. 13. Transcript of interview with PM Lee Kuan Yew by 
foreign correspondents, TV Singapura, 30 August 1965, NAS. 14. Interview with Lee Kuan Yew, 4 May 
2009. 15. Foreword by Lee Kuan Yew in Ng, The Singapore Lion. 16. Interview with Lee Khoon Choy, 
20 June 2005. 17. Interview with Chen Man Hin, 2 October 2004. 18. Interview by Foong Choon Hon, 
published in Shin Min Daily News, 17 June 1990. 19. Chew, Leaders of Singapore. 20. Transcript of press 
conference by PM Lee Kuan Yew at Broadcasting House, Singapore, 9 August 1965, NAS. 21. Transcript 
of prime minister’s press conference at City Hall, 26 August 1965, NAS. 22. Interview with Rajaratnam by 
local media after Singapore’s separation from Malaysia, 10 August 1965, NAS. 23. The DAP was formally 
registered six months later, on 18 March 1966, as a political party “irrevocably committed to the ideal of a free, 
democratic and socialist Malaysia, based on the principles of racial equality, social and economic justice, and 
founded on the institution of parliamentary democracy”. 24. Another who joined Devan from Singapore 
was Lim Kit Siang, a Johor-born journalist working in the press section of Raja’s Culture Ministry. Lim, who 
started off as Devan’s political secretary, became the DAP’s secretary-general in 1969. No one could know then 
that, after the May 1969 general elections in Malaysia, the DAP would emerge as the largest opposition party 
in Parliament, or that race riots would break out on 13 May following the elections and that Lim would be 
jailed for 18 months for the riots, although he played no part in them. 25. Interview with Rajaratnam by local 
media after Singapore’s separation from Malaysia, 10 August 1965, NAS. 26. Interview with S. Rajaratnam, 
OHC, NAS. 27. British deputy high commissioner, Singapore, to CRO, London, 10 August 1965. 28. Ibid. 
Eddie Barker, in his oral history, later speculated that, if Toh and Rajaratnam did not sign the Separation 
Agreement, “they’d have to leave the Singapore Cabinet”. It is highly unlikely, however, that Lee Kuan Yew 
ever gave them such an ultimatum on 7 August, given his determination to avoid a Cabinet split, which 
would confuse the PAP’s followers. See Lee, The Singapore Story. 29. Lee, The Singapore Story. 30. Philip 
Moore to CRO, 10 August 1965. 31. Cablegram from Pritchett, Australian High Commission, Singapore, 
to Canberra, 10 August 1965. 32. Cablegram from Pritchett, Australian High Commission, Singapore, to 
Canberra, 12 August 1965. 33. Interview with Peter Lim, 21 July 2006.

C HA P T E R  9 :  D E F Y I N G  T H E  O D D S

1.  Speech by Rajaratnam at the first anniversary dinner and dance of the University of Singapore’s 
Democratic Socialist Club, 29  August 1965. 2.  Sound recording of interview with Rajaratnam by local 
media after Singapore’s Separation from Malaysia, 10  August 1965, NAS. 3.  The Economist, 14  August 
1965. 4. Subsequently extended over the years by land reclamation to about 724 km².  5. The Sunday Times, 
23 May 1965. 6. Interview with S. Rajaratnam, Dialogues with S. Rajaratnam. 7. Telegram from Antony 
Head to CRO, 9 August 1965. 8. Ibid. 9. Manila Chronicle, 11 August 1965.  10. Interview with Thomas 
Abraham, OHC, NAS. 11. National Intelligence Estimate, “Prospects for Malaysia and Singapore”, Washington, 
16 December 1965, Department of State. This estimate was prepared by the CIA, the intelligence organizations 
of the Departments of State and Defense, and the NSA. 12. Cablegram from Australian High Commission, 
Singapore, to Canberra, 11 August 1965. 13. Ibid. 14. Cablegram from the Department of External Affairs, 
Canberra, to the Australian High Commission, New Delhi, 20 August 1965. 15. Interview with Lee Kuan 
Yew, 8 July 2005. 16. Letter from Singapore foreign minister S. Rajaratnam to Dinesh Singh, India’s deputy 
foreign minister, 23 August 1965, MFA Archives. 17. Ibid. 18. Interview with Ananda Perera, 22 March 
2009. 19. Raja sent two cables to the UN secretary-general on 2 September. One was to inform U-Thant that 
Singapore was declared an independent and sovereign state on 9 August by solemn proclamations made by 
the prime ministers of Singapore and Malaysia, and that the Singapore government accepted the obligations 
of membership in accordance with the UN Charter. The other was to declare that “the independent and 
sovereign State of Singapore accepts the conditions contained in the Charter of the United Nations and solemnly 
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undertakes to fulfil them”. 20. Mills referred to the wording in Article 13 of the Separation Agreement, which 
states that the Singapore government would allow the UK government to continue to maintain the bases within 
Singapore and to “make such use of these bases and facilities as that Government may consider necessary 
for the purposes of assisting in the defence of Singapore and Malaysia and for Commonwealth defence and 
for the preservation of peace in South-East Asia.” 21. Telegram from British deputy high commissioner, 
Singapore, to CRO, 11 August 1965. 22. The Non-Aligned Movement was based on the premise that the 
new nations of Asia and Africa should band together to form a third, neutral force – the Third World – so as 
to resist becoming satellites to the Cold War superpowers. 23. Speech by Rajaratnam in Parliament, 16–17 
December 1965. 24. Telegram from Australian High Commission, Singapore, to Department of External 
Affairs, Canberra, 15  August 1965. 25.  Gretchen Liu, The Singapore Foreign Service: The First 40 Years 
(Singapore: Editions Didier Millet, 2005). 26. Telegram from British deputy high commissioner, Singapore, 
to CRO, 11 August 1965. 27. Interview with Teo Ban Hock, 16 May 2012. 28. Ibid. 29. Bloodworth’s 
article, “Sinnathamby Rajaratnam: An Appreciation by Dennis Bloodworth”, 5 November 1983. Copy given 
to this author during an interview with Bloodworth on 12 February 2005. 30. The Straits Times, 14 August 
1965. 31.  Telegram from British Government representative ad interim, Singapore, to CRO, 14  August 
1965. 32. The Straits Times, 15 August 1965. 33. National Intelligence Estimate, “Prospects for Malaysia 
and Singapore”, Washington, 16 December 1965. 34. Speech by Rajaratnam at the luncheon given by the 
University of Singapore Society, Hotel Singapura, 30  July 1966. 35.  Rajaranam’s interview with Neville 
Peterson of the Australian Broadcasting Commission (ABC), broadcast over Television ABC as well as 
Television Singapura on 22 August 1965. 36. Ibid. 37. Telegram from British Government representative 
ad interim, Singapore, J.V. Rob, to secretary of state for CRO, London, 25 August 1965. 38. Cablegram from 
Pritchett to Hasluck, Singapore, 17 August 1965. 39. Cablegram from Australian High Commission, KL, to 
Department of External Affairs, Canberra, 28 August 1965. 40. PM Lee Kuan Yew’s press conference held at 
City Hall, 26 August 1965, NAS. 41. PM Lee Kuan Yew’s press conference with foreign press on 30 August 
1965, NAS. 42. Ibid. 43. The Straits Times, 31 August 1965. He was speaking at the first anniversary dinner 
and dance of the University of Singapore’s Democratic Socialist club. 44. S. Rajaratnam’s Talk at the Political 
Study Centre, “Malaysia and the Changing Pattern of World Politics”. The four radio talks were presented on 17 
and 18 January and then 24 and 25 February 1964, Radio Malaysia, Singapura. 45. Ibid. 46. Ibid. 47. The 
Americans offered the Singapore premier $3.3 million, which he spurned, to cover up a botched CIA operation 
in 1960 in which a CIA representative was caught trying to buy information from a Singapore intelligence 
agent. 48. PM Lee Kuan Yew’s press conference with foreign press on 30 August 1965. Lee highlighted to the 
Americans that they were not dealing with Ngo Dinh Diem, the first president of South Vietnam, or Syngman 
Rhee, the first president of South Korea. Both South Vietnam and South Korea were heavily backed by America 
in the Vietnam War and Korean War, respectively. For a useful analysis of the episode, see Chan Heng Chee, 
Singapore: The Politics of Survival, 1965–1967 (Singapore: Oxford University Press, 1970); and Daniel Wei Boon 
Chua, US-Singapore Relations, 1965–1975: Strategic Non-alignment in the Cold War (Singapore: NUS Press, 
2017). 49. National Intelligence Estimate, Washington, 16 December 1965. 50. Lee Kuan Yew, From Third 
World to First: The Singapore Story, 1965–2000 (Singapore: Marshall Cavendish Editions, 2015). 51. The Straits 
Times, 27 November 1990. 52. The New York Times, 8 September 1965. 53. Interview with Rajaratnam at 
Hong Kong Airport, 16 September 1965, NAS. The question was posed by an American journalist. 54. The 
New York Times, 8 September 1965.

C HA P T E R  1 0 :  WO R L D  D E B U T

1.  The Straits Times, 17 September 1965. 2.  Ibid. 3.  Telegram from the British High Commission in 
Canberra to CRO, 25 August 1965. 4. Telegram from British Government representative ad interim J.V. 
Rob, Singapore, to CRO, 16 August 1965. 5. It would take some skillful diplomacy by Arnold Smith, the 
Commonwealth secretary-general, to persuade Pakistan to abstain from, rather than object to, Singapore’s 
admission, and for two months to pass before Singapore became the 22nd member of the Commonwealth 
in October. 6.  Cable from New Zealand High Commission, Singapore, to Wellington, 15  September 
1965. 7. Letter from S. Rajaratnam to Ramani, 8 September 1965, MFA Archives. 8. The Straits Times, 
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22 September 1965. 9.  UN Security Council official records, New York, 20  September 1965.  UNSC 
official records of the 1243rd meeting, 20 September 1965. 10. Ibid. 11. When declaring the admission 
of the Maldives, the president of the 20th session of the General Assembly, Amintore Fanfani, noted that 
“the representatives of the Maldive Islands had not yet arrived at the United Nations Headquarters”. See 
UNGA official records, 20th Session, 1332nd Plenary Meeting, 21 September 1965. 12. Sound recording of 
interview with S. Rajaratnam’s by Mr N.S. Krishna, 7 April 1966, NAS. 13. The Straits Times, 25 September 
1965. 14.  Mr Rajaratnam’s interview with the BBC on 28  September 1965, BBC Archives. 15.  Wire 
report by the Associated Press published in The Straits Times, 25  September 1965. 16.  Eight African 
countries, four Asian countries, and France, Britain, Russia and Yugoslavia. 17.  Interview with Mal 
Goode, American Broadcasting Corporation, recorded in the UN HQ on 21  September 1965, MFA 
Archives. 18.  Ibid. 19.  Hochstadt was then Secretary of the PMO (known today as Principal Private 
Secretary to the PM). 20. Interview with Herman Hochstadt, 13 May 2012. 21. Ibid. 22. Secret telegram 
from Toh Chin Chye to Lee Kuan Yew, 18 September 1965, Correspondence with United Nations, PMO 
074/65, PMO collection, NAS. 23. Interview by Mal Goode, American Broadcasting Corporation, recorded 
in the UN HQ on 21 September 1965, MFA Archives. 24. Abu Bakar Pawanchee joined the colonial civil 
service in 1950, and by 1958 had become Singapore’s first Malay permanent secretary for the Ministry of 
Commerce and Industry. 25. Liu, The Singapore Foreign Service. 26. His position in the UN would be left 
empty and filled only a year later. 27. Abu Bakar Pawanchee served as Permanent Secretary until August 
1967, when he chose to retire from the civil service. Not long after, he moved to Kuala Lumpur. 28. Among 
the officials, Leembruggen was perhaps the only one with diplomatic expertise. Trained in diplomatic 
service in England in 1954, he had done a stint in the British Foreign Service. Keong and Mun worked in 
the broadcasting division of the culture ministry.

C HA P T E R  1 1 :  FA C I N G  G IA N T S

1. Interview with Herman Hochstadt, 13 May 2012. 2. In 1958, Egypt and Syria formed the United Arab 
Republic, which Nasser hoped would someday include the entire Arab world. Syria withdrew in 1961, but Egypt 
continued to be known as the UAR until 1971. 3. He said this when pressing KL to pay greater attention to 
Afro-Asian countries and their leaders. S. Rajaratnam’s Talk at the Political Study Centre, “Malaysia and the 
Changing Pattern of World Politics”, date of recording 27 January 1964, NAS. 4. During his years in London 
from 1935 to 1947, Raja met George Padmore and was inducted into the world of Pan-African struggle. They 
became close friends. Raja wrote for some of Padmore’s publications. In his book How Russia Transformed 
Her Colonial Empire: A Challenge to the Imperialist Powers, published in 1946, Padmore named Raja as one 
of the four friends who gave helpful criticisms and suggestions. See Ng, The Singapore Lion. 5. Interview 
with Herman Hochstadt, 13 May 2012. 6. Shin Min Daily News, 27 May 1990. 7. Raja was impressed with 
Tom Mboya’s pragmatic and non-tribalist approach to Kenyan politics, and would be saddened by Mboya’s 
assassination three years later, in 1969. 8. Reports by DPM Toh Chin Chye on visits to Afro-Asian Countries 
and Europe, September/November 1965, PM 0025/65, PMO collection, NAS. 9. Interview with Herman 
Hochstadt, 13 May 2012. 10. Ibid. 11. Obote and Mutesa had formed an uneasy alliance that swept them 
into power in the 1962 election. When Uganda became independent a year later, the Kingdom of Buganda 
became a semi-autonomous part of the new Ugandan federation, with Mutesa as non-executive president 
and Obote as prime minister. Their alliance soon collapsed, and factional infighting became the order of the 
day. By the time the Singapore mission arrived in 1965, the Ugandan president and prime minister were at 
each other’s throats. 12. Reports by DPM Toh Chin Chye on visits to Afro-Asian Countries and Europe, 
September/November 1965, PM 0025/65, PMO collection, NAS. 13. Mutesa was apparently suspected of 
supporting the anti-Obote forces in the army. See Ogenga Otunnu, Crisis of Legitimacy and Political Violence 
in Uganda, 1890 to 1979 (Palgrave Macmillan, 2016). 14. The Straits Times, 8 October 1965. 15. Mun 
Chor Seng’s notes to his editor accompanying his shots reveal his problems at one point with “sticky” 
film that jammed in the camera and his efforts to obtain new rolls of film. Notes provided by Mun to this 
author. 16.  Sound recording of a progress report on the Singapore Goodwill Mission’s tour of five East 
African states (Kenya, Tanzania, Malawi, Zambia and Uganda), recorded by radio producer Keong Siew 
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Tong in Nairobi, Kenya, 12 October 1965, NAS. 17. On 17 October 1965, President Sukarno inaugurated 
an international conference against foreign military bases. He claimed that it was the sacred duty of all New 
Emerging Forces to abolish not only foreign military bases but also “imperialist mental bases” – those who 
are mentally still influenced by imperialists and convinced that foreign military bases are needed. It was a 
clear reference to Singapore. 18. Originally 12, but Ethiopia and Morocco could not receive the Singapore 
delegation because of clashing state visits – of the president of India to Ethiopia, and the president of Tunisia 
to Morocco. 19. Telegram from Hugh Carless, British embassy in Budapest, to Foreign Office, London, 
31 May 1966. Raja visited Hungary as part of a three-week tour of East European countries led by Lee in May 
1966. 20. Daily Express, 4 November 1965. 21. The Straits Times, 5 November 1965. 22. Daily Express, 
4 November 1965. 23. India made three separate proposals at the meeting that the Soviet Union, Malaysia and 
Singapore be invited to participate in the Afro-Asian Conference. See statement made by Sardar Swaran Singh, 
Minister of External Affairs, in the Lok Sabha on 10 November 1965 regarding the postponement of the Afro-
Asian Conference in Algiers. 24. Interview with Lee Kuan Yew, 4 May 2009. 25. Report by S. Rajaratnam 
on his meeting with Soviet foreign minister A.A. Gromyko in Moscow on 6 November 1965, DPM’s report 
on visits to Afro-Asian countries, September–November 1965, PM 0025/65, PMO collection, NAS. 26. The 
Straits Times, 18 November 1965. 27. Chan Heng Chee and Obaid ul Haq, eds., The Prophetic and the Political 
(Singapore: Graham Brash, 1987). 28. Paper by the American Embassy in Singapore, 6 August 1968, which 
was enclosed in a telegram from the Australian Embassy in Singapore to Canberra, 28 August 1968. 29. In his 
oral history, Abraham said his own motivation in helping Singapore gain international recognition stemmed 
from his anti-colonial sympathies: “Strictly speaking, it could be argued that the colonial powers withdrew 
from Singapore on the basis that Singapore was to become a constituent of Malaysia, which had taken over 
all the responsibilities of the old Malaya. Those arrangements, having broken down, it could be argued that 
Singapore would revert to its former colonial state. And this I was determined to prevent to the extent that I 
had the power to do so.” 30. Interview with Thomas Abraham, OHC, NAS. 31. Lee, From Third World to 
First. 32. Letter from Rajaratnam to Ceylon prime minister Dudley Senanayake, 7 December 1965, MFA 
Archives. 33. Ceylon Daily News, 17 November 1965. 34. Speech by S. Rajaratnam, Debate on the Report 
of Constitutional Commission 1966, Singapore Parliament Report, 16 March 1967. 35. The Straits Times, 
18 November 1965. 36. S. Ramaswamy, parliamentary secretary to the finance minister, replying on behalf of 
the finance minister to an oral question by Ho Kah Leong on “Trade between Singapore and African Countries”, 
Singapore Parliament Report, 14 December 1966. 37. Annual Budget Statement by Finance Minister Lim 
Kim San, Singapore Parliament Report, 13 December 1965. 38. Ibid.

C HA P T E R  1 2 :  T H E  NAT I O NA L  P L E D G E

1. The People’s Defence Force, a part-time and volunteer-based paramilitary defence force, was conceived as 
a reserve combat unit to supplement the small regular Singapore Army in the defence of Singapore. 2. The 
initial plan was for schools to hold a mass flag-raising ceremony accompanied by the national anthem, but 
practical problems intruded – the mass singing of the anthem, to be accompanied by a brass band, required 
a large field or assembly hall, which many schools lacked. The tight curriculum made it onerous for the flag-
raising ceremony to be carried out daily. Hence the idea for a “simple ceremony” with a loyalty pledge to the 
flag. In a letter dated 20 October 1965, Willie Cheng, MOE’s principal assistant secretary (administration), 
proposed that the flag-raising ceremony be carried out in classrooms instead, with students saluting the 
flag. Responding two days later, on 22 October 1965, Kwan Sai Kheong, the acting permanent secretary 
and director of education, wrote that Ong had suggested, as a compromise, a pledge of two to three lines 
to be recited in the classroom in place of singing the national anthem. Exchanges cited found in file Flag 
Raising, Pledges, etc, EDUN C-27-18-072, Ministry of Education collection, NAS. 3. Interview with Ong 
Pang Boon in Chew, Leaders of Singapore. 4. Speech to the Legislative Assembly, 11 November 1959. Toh 
chaired the committee to design the national flag, but accounts and records available suggest that it was 
Raja who saw the sensitive process through and provided the meanings behind the symbols. See Ng, The 
Singapore Lion. 5. Speech by Othman Wok, Singapore Parliament Report, 16 December 1965. 6. Speech by 
S. Rajaratnam, Debate on the Report of Constitutional Commission, Singapore Parliament Report, 16 March 
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1967. 7. Ibid. 8. Interview with Yap Chin Kwee, 4 September 2005. 9. In a Straits Times interview in 
1996, Raja said he took “a day or two to play around with the words” and that he used a Corona typewriter to 
type out the pledge. However, one cannot be sure of the accuracy of his recollection, as by then he had been 
diagnosed with dementia. 10. Speech by S. Rajaratnam to the University of Singapore Society on 30 July 
1966. 11. New Year message by S. Rajaratnam, written on 29 December 1966 for publication on 1 January 
1967. S. Rajaratnam Private Papers Collection, ISEAS – Yusof Ishak Institute. 12.  Ibid. 13. The Straits 
Times, 23 November 1959 14. The Straits Times, 10 December 1959 15. The Straits Times, 19 February 
1966.  16. Shortly after separation from Malaysia, an advance party of Singapore infantry regiment left for 
a tour of duty in Sabah. After their departure, Malaysia sent a battalion to replace them and these Malaysian 
soldiers have been in Singapore since. The Straits Times, 17 February 1966. 17. Interview with Lee Kuan 
Yew, 4  May 2009. 18.  Ibid. 19.  Foreword by Lee Kuan Yew in Ng, The Singapore Lion. 20.  Speech 
by Minister Mentor Lee Kuan Yew, Singapore Parliament Report, 19 August 2009. 21. In Indonesia, for 
example, Chinese residents were being targeted in mob killings and their shops and properties destroyed 
in the aftermath of a failed communist coup in late 1965 and into 1966. The country had banned Chinese 
schools, as well as public expressions of Chinese culture and language, to compel the Chinese to assimilate 
into its indigenous population. In Malaysia, the screws were also tightening on the local Chinese through 
the pressure of Malay political, cultural and religious primacy. Malay, already the national language, would 
be made the sole official language in 1967 – in contrast to Singapore, which gave equal official status to all 
four major languages: English, Malay, Chinese and Tamil. 22. Transcript of speech by Prime Minister Lee 
Kuan Yew at a meeting with school principals, Victoria Theatre, 29 August 1966, NAS. 23. Ibid. 24. The 
Straits Times, 18 March 1966. 25. Ibid. 26. The Straits Times, 6 August 1986. 27. The New Paper, 8 June 
1996. 28. Ibid. 29. Ibid. 30. At the time, Radio Malaya, which was under the department of broadcasting 
in the Federation of Malaya and Singapore, served both the peninsula and Singapore. 31. Irene Ng, ed., The 
Short Stories and Radio Plays of S. Rajaratnam (Singapore: Epigram Books, 2011). 32. Ibid. 33. Raja’s razor-
thin victory was a sore point for his Barisan opponent Tan Jing Quee, who garnered 42.5 per cent of the vote 
in a three-cornered fight. Tan called for a recount, which revised Raja’s margin from the initial count of more 
than 100 votes to 220 votes. The final tally was: Raja – 4,313 votes; Tan Jing Quee (Barisan Sosialis) – 4,093; 
and Harbans Singh (United People’s Party ) – 1,224. 34. Sound recording of a talk “A Time of Perils and 
Hopes for Singapore” by S. Rajaratnam, 15 July 1969, NAS. 35. Interview with Low Yong Nguan, 20 May 
2014. 36. Interview with Fong Swee Suan, 4 June 2009. Fong, a founding member of the PAP, quit the party 
to form the opposition party Barisan Sosialis in 1961. 37. Speech by S. Rajaratnam at the 75th anniversary 
of the Singapore Ceylon Tamil’s Association, 10 February 1985. 38. The official classification of Indians 
comprised people of Indian, Pakistani, Bangladeshi or Sri Lankan origin, such as Tamils, Malayalees, Punjabis, 
Bengalis and Sinhalese. 39.  Sound recording of Indian Association’s 1967 Ponggal Festival, 14  January 
1967, NAS. 40. Ibid. 41. Speech by S. Rajaratnam, Debate on the Report of Constitutional Commission 
1966, Singapore Parliament Report, 16 March 1967. 42. The Straits Times, 1 January 1967 43. Speech by 
S. Rajaratnam at the Foreign Correspondents Association’s luncheon, 10 March 1966.

C HA P T E R  1 3 :  M E N D I N G  T I E S

1.  Interview with S.  Rajaratnam, OHC, NAS. 2.  Ibid. 3.  Interview with Harry Chan, 28  March 
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other telegrams. 7. Speech at the opening of a PAP branch in Tanjong Pagar, 26 June 1966. 8. Telegram 
from the US Department of State to the Embassy in Malaysia, 29  January 1966. 9.  Notes of meeting 
with Jeno Baczoni at the MFA, Budapest, Hungary, 24 May 1966, MFA Archives. 10. Richard Donald, 
“Memorandum of Conversation: Lee Kuan Yew and William Bundy”, 8  March 1966. 11.  Information 
memorandum from the Assistant Secretary of State for Far Eastern Affairs (Bundy) to Secretary of State 
Dean Rusk, Washington, 14 March 1966. 12. The Straits Times, 26 March 1966. 13. Singapore’s embassy 
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Peace in Asia”, Department of State Bulletin, 1 August 1966. The Pentagon Papers, Gravel Edition, vol. 4 
(Boston: Beacon Press, 1971) 15. Ibid. 16. US Congressional Record – House, 16 June 1966. 17. Lee, 
From Third World to First. 18. Letter from Donald Maitland, Foreign Office, London, to Commonwealth 
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Times, 17 March 1968. 21. S. Rajaratnam’s speech at the luncheon by the University of Singapore Society, 
Hotel Singapura, 30 July 1966. 22. The exact number of victims of Sook Ching is unknown, but the SCCC 
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by Rajaratnam on the Japanese blood debt, 6  June 1966, Cabinet Paper, CP(1966) 282, PMO collection, 
NAS. 25.  Notes of meeting with Japanese foreign minister Etsusaburo Shiina, 24  October, 1966, MFA 
Archives. 26. The Straits Times, 25 October 1966. 27. Ibid. 28. The Straits Times, 26 October 1966. 29. In 
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pact. To break the deadlock, he suggested simplifying the title, and calling it a “bilateral agreement”. Japan, 
however, said there was no precedent for such a title. In the end, the compromise was to name the pact 
after the signing date. 31. Antara, 4 April 1966. In his first major press conference, on 4 April, Malik said 
that the Indonesian government would re-evaluate the foreign policies of the previous administration, and 
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2010. 33. The Straits Times, 12 April 1966. 34. Transcript of press conference given by the prime minister 
at the Singapore airport, 11 April 1966, prior to his departure abroad on a two-month tour, NAS. 35. The 
Straits Times, 13 April 1966. 36. The Straits Times, 15 April 1966. 37. Eastman hinted to the Tunku that 
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rather than an acceptance”. But the unimpressed Tunku commented tartly that Lee was a clever lawyer and 
politician, and would have chosen his words deliberately. 38. Information memorandum from the assistant 
secretary of state for Far Eastern Affairs (Bundy) to secretary of state Dean Rusk, Washington, 14 March 
1966. 39. Lee Khoon Choy, Diplomacy of a Tiny State (Singapore: World Scientific, 1993). 40. The Straits 
Times, 18  April 1966. 41.  The Straits Times, 19  April 1966. 42.  Cablegram from New Zealand High 
Commission, Singapore, to Wellington, 20 April 1966. 43. Ibid. 44. KL remained angry with Singapore 
even though Kogam (Komando Ganyang Malaysia, or the Crush Malaysia Command) as well as Malik 
himself came out to say that Indonesia did not want a breach between Malaysia and Singapore over the 
recognition issue. 45. Cablegram from New Zealand High Commission, Singapore, to Wellington, 20 April 
1966. 46. Wee Kim Wee, who previously worked as the chief correspondent for the American news agency 
United Press International, was by this time close to Raja. The two men had frequent dealings particularly 
after 1959 with Raja as the new culture minister. Wee had then just rejoined The Straits Times. 47. The Straits 
Times, 6 May 1966. 48. They visited Poland, Czechoslovakia, Hungary, Bulgaria and Rumania. 49. The 
bilateral agreement between Malaysia and Indonesia to end Confrontation, called the Bangkok Accord, was 
signed on 1 June 1966. It was formalised on 12 August. 50. Audio recording of Rajaratnam’s interview 
by K.N. Krishna, 7 April 1966, NAS. 51. J. Norman Parmer, “Malaysia: Changing a Little to Keep Pace”, 
Asian Survey 7, no. 2, “A Survey of Asia in 1966: Part II” (February 1967). 52. S. Rajaratnam’s speech at 
the luncheon by the University of Singapore Society, Hotel Singapura, 30 July 1966.
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C HA P T E R  1 4 :  O D D  M A N  O U T

1. Interview with S.R. Nathan, 26 September 2005. 2. Ibid. As part of the interview, S.R. Nathan provided 
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MFA Archives. 14. Despatch from A. Rumbold to South East Asia Department, Foreign Office, London, 
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Bullard, charge d’affaires to Mr George Brown, British foreign secretary, London, 15 August 1967. 17. Notes 
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Teik Soon, 2 September 2012. 19. Interview with Ngiam Tong Dow, 7 July 2010. 20. Interview with S. 
Dhanabalan, 23 June 2010. 21. Interview with Ngiam Tong Dow, 7 July 2010. 22. The press statement 
announced that a standing committee would be set up to consider and make proposals for joint development 
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the next ministerial meeting in Jakarta. 23. See Fidel Valdez Ramos, “From ‘Sports-Shirt’ Diplomacy to 
a Model Rules-Based Organisation”, in The ASEAN Journey: Reflections of ASEAN Leaders and Officials, 
by Surin Pitsuwan et al. (Economic Research Institute for ASEAN and East Asia, 2017). 24.  Interview 
with Dr Sompong Sucharitkul, 26 March 2010. 25. The Straits Times, 9 August 1967 26. In its 50th year, 
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Kishore Mahbubani and Jeffery Sng, The ASEAN Miracle: A Catalyst for Peace (Singapore: NUS Press; Ridge 
Press, 2017). 27. Speech by S. Rajaratnam at the luncheon given by the University of Singapore Society, 
30 July 1966.  28. Rajaratnam’s note on Singapore’s relationship with Indonesia, circulated to embassies 
on 23 November 1967, MFA Archives. 29. The Straits Times, 7 November 1967. 30. The Straits Times, 
17 November 1967. 31. Ibid. 32. For a vivid account, see John Butler’s article, “Indonesia’s Chinese”, The 
Bulletin, 10 December 1966. It is uncertain how many people were actually killed. One estimate for those 
killed between October 1965 and March 1966 was about 500,000. See Robert Cribb, ed., The Indonesian 
Killings of 1965–1966: Studies from Java and Bali (Clayton, Victoria: Monash University Centre of Southeast 
Asian Studies, 1990). 33.  Telegram from Horace Phillips, British ambassador to Indonesia, Jakarta, to 
Southeast Asia department, Foreign Office, 14 February 1967. 34. Speech at the luncheon organised by 
the University of Singapore Society, 30 July 1966. 35. Ibid. 36. Interview with Ngiam Tong Dow, 6 July 
2010. 37. Interview with S.R. Nathan, 26 September 2005. 38. Notes of meeting between S. Rajaratnam 
and Brigadier-General Soenarso, 13  December 1967, Singapore, MFA Archives. 39.  Notes of meeting 
between S.  Rajaratnam and Adam Malik, 18  March 1968, Singapore, MFA Archives. 40.  Raja seeded 
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schemes. 41.  Interview with V.K. Pillay, 1  June 2004. 42.  Second reading of the Employment Bill in 
Parliament, 10 July 1968. 43. S. Rajaratnam’s speech to the International Press Institute in Hong Kong, 
18 May 1968. 44. Australian High Commission, Singapore, to the Secretary, Department of External Affairs, 
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Canberra, 11 October 1968. 45. In his speech to the UN in 1969, Raja registered Singapore’s support for 
the Security Council resolution calling for permanent peace in the Middle East based on the “withdrawal 
of Israeli armed forces from territories occupied in the recent (1967) conflict” and the establishment of 
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position: It believed that “no country, however big or small, should be denied the right to exist; that the 
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C HA P T E R  1 5 :  F I R S T  F O R E I G N  P O L I C Y  C R I S I S
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Intelligence Estimate, Washington, 31 December 1968, Department of State, NIE 55-68. Prepared by the CIA and 
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the secrecy surrounding the meeting between Raja and Malik in December 1968, the media assumed, wrongly, 
that the first time Malik met a Singapore leader since the anti-Singapore riots was in February 1969 when he 
met Rahim Ishak at the airport VIP room in Singapore. See The Straits Times, 21 February 1969. 34. The 
Straits Times, 16 April 1969. 35. Letter from Lee Khoon Choy to PM Lee Kuan Yew, 2 December 1970, MFA 
Archives. 36. Memorandum from Rajaratnam to Lee Kuan Yew, 25 March 1972, MFA Archives. 37. British 
High Commission, Singapore, to the FCO, 5 July 1973.  38. Notes of conversation of Rajaratnam’s meeting 
with Edwin Cronk, Singapore, 8 June 1973, MFA Archives. 39. In 2014, Indonesia named a corvette warship 
as KRI Usman-Harun after the two hanged commandos. In response, Singapore cancelled a series of planned 
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an international defence meeting. 40. The Straits Times, 13 February 2014.
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C HA P T E R  1 6 :  A  WO R L D  O F  H I S  O W N
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Tan Hwa Luck, 10 March 2005. 15. The Straits Times, 13 May 1985. 16. Interview with Lee Hsien Loong, 
9 May 2014. 17. Speech at the opening of the joint exhibition of paintings by six artists, National Library, 
6 May 1970. 18. Ibid. 19. Speech at the annual installation dinner of the Lion Club of Singapore Central, 
27 June 1981. 20. Ibid. 21. In talking about the cult of moneytheism, he condemned not the making of 
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character”. 22. Chan Heng Chee and Obaid ul Haq eds., The Prophetic and the Political (Singapore: Graham 
Brash, 1987). 23.  Interview with Ungku Aziz bin Abdul Hamid, 2 September 2005. 24. The founding 
father of the Dutch post-war industrialisation programme, Dr Winsemius headed a United Nations team 
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Winsemius, OHC, NAS. 26. Ibid. 27. Petir, 31 May 1962. 28. Speech at the International Conference 
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C HA P T E R  1 7 :  L A B O U R  PA N G S

1.  The Straits Times, 10  February 1968. 2.  Interview with Lee Kuan Yew, 4  May 2009. 3.  The Straits 
Times, 30 June 1968, quoting Asia Magazine. 4. Talk over Radio and Television Singapura on “How to Beat 
the Slump”, 30 March 1968, NAS.  5. David Bonavia, “Singapore’s Dark Horizon”, Far Eastern Economic 
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between the communist and non-communist leadership within the PAP. When the pro-communists within 
the PAP broke away to form Barisan Sosialis in 1961, they took with them most of the leading unionists and 
formed the Singapore Association of Trade Unions. The remaining non-communist union leaders formed 
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with Seah Mui Kok, OHC, NAS. 17. Interview with Eric Cheong, 28 June 2006. 18. Sonny Yap, Leong 
Weng Kam, and Richard Lim, Men in White (Singapore: Straits Times Press, 2010). 19. Private notebook of 
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C HA P T E R  1 8 :  H I S  S I N G A P O R E  D R E A M S
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each year. 3. Interview with Ngiam Tong Dow, 6 July 2010. 4. Ibid. 5. The Straits Times, 7 September 
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probably because the projects required capital in the region of between $10 million and $15 million. The Golden 
Mile strip of mixed-use buildings was completed in the 1970s.  13. The Straits Times, 24 May 1968. 14. The 
Straits Times, 15 September 1968. 15. Speech at the NTUC Delegates’ Seminar on “Modernisation of the 
Labour Movement”, 17 November 1969.  16. The three top leaders spoke on separate days over the four-day 
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Michael Stewart, FCO. 22. Ibid. 23. The Times, 5 August 1968. 24. The riots broke out in the wake of the 
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arrested without trial under the Internal Security Act. A police statement said he “was acting in the interests 
of foreign intelligence organisations through their business enterprise here”. The Russian connection was 
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MFA Archives. 25. Notes of meeting by foreign minister on his visit to China to ASEAN heads of missions in 
Singapore, 9 April 1975. 26. Lee Khoon Choy, notes of meeting with premier Chou En-lai, 29 March 1975, 
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and the Development Bank of Singapore, and I.F. Tang, deputy chairman of the Economic Development 
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1979. 38. Speech by Rajaratnam to the National Press Club of Malaysia at the Lake Club, Kuala Lumpur, 
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23 June 2010. 15. Telegram from US Interests Section (USINT) in Havana to secretary of state, Washington, 
8 September 1979. 16.  Interview with Kishore Mahbubani, 15 December 2008 17.  Ibid. 18. Kishore 
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2015, pp. 1-9, Digital Narratives of Asia, https://ink.library.smu.edu.sg/isl_dna/15 19.  Interview with 
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Rithauddeen, 3 September 2005. 32. Interview with S. Rajaratnam by Chan Heng Chee and Obaid ul Haq, 
7 December 1985, in The Prophetic and the Political (Singapore: Graham Brash, 1987). 33. Ibid. 34. Speech 
to the University of Singapore Students’ Political Association at the Bukit Timah campus, 23  November 
1979. 35. At a meeting of the UN Commission on Human Rights on 15 September 1978, a resolution was 
submitted requesting that the “highest priority” be given for the setting up of a committee to inquire into 
reported Khmer Rouge massacres in Cambodia. The voting was 15 in favour and 3 against. Vietnam was 
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delegation to the Department of State, Kuala Lumpur, 28 June 1980. 16. Ibid. 17. Speech at the opening 
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1969. 5. Interview with Ng Thim Wah, 23 July 2014. 6. The Straits Times, 7 January 1980. 7. Among other 
measures, ICAP limited the capacity of foreign airlines on routes between Australia and Europe. It allowed 
only Qantas and British Airways to carry passengers point-to-point between Australia and Britain on cheap 
fares, cut the frequency of Singapore Airlines flights on the lucrative “Kangaroo route” between Australia 
and Britain, and discouraged stopovers by passengers en route by imposing a high surcharge. Compared with 
other airlines in the region, Singapore Airlines was the most affected by the policy. 8. He had written an 
earlier letter to Peacock on the matter on 8 December 1978, which was widely publicised in the Singapore 
media. 9.  Singapore Parliamentary Debates: Official Report, 5  March 1979. 10.  Ibid. 11.  Interview 
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Vasil, Governing Singapore (Singapore: Eastern Universities Press, 1984). 21. Interview with S. Rajaratnam, 
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Rajaratnam: An Appreciation by Dennis Bloodworth”, 5 November 1983. 31. Interview with Teo Ban Hock, 
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